RECEIVED

WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEAL **52-06-2015**DISTRICT 2

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS
OF WISCONSIN

REGENCY WEST APARTMENTS LLC,

Plaintiff-Appellant,

V.

Appeal No. 2014AP002947

CITY OF RACINE,

Defendant-Respondent.

Appeal from Circuit Court of Racine County The Honorable Gerald P. Ptacek, Presiding Circuit Court Nos. 13-CV-1546 and 13-CV-1848

APPELLANT'S BRIEF AND APPENDIX

Maureen A. McGinnity
FOLEY & LARDNER LLP
777 East Wisconsin Avenue
Milwaukee, WI 53202
(414) 297-5510
(414) 297-4900 (Facsimile)
mmcginnity@foley.com

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Appellant

INTRODUCTION

These consolidated *de novo* actions were commenced under Wis. Stat. § 74.37 to recover refunds of excessive property taxes assessed by the City of Racine ("City") for the years 2012 and 2013. The property at issue is a 72-unit IRC § 42 low income housing tax credit development (the "subject property"). The City assessed the subject property at \$4,425,000 and \$4,169,000 for the years 2012 and 2013, respectively. Plaintiff-appellant Regency West Apartments LLC ("plaintiff") contends the actual fair market values for those years were \$2,700,000 and \$2,730,000.

Following a bench trial, the trial court entered judgment in favor of the City, upholding the 2012 and 2013 assessments. The trial court's rationale is fraught with legal errors, demonstrating its disregard for special considerations in valuing § 42 properties. Application of the correct law mandates the reversal of the judgment and direction of judgment in plaintiff's favor.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Did the trial court err in concluding that HUD § 8¹ rent subsidized properties and a predominantly market rate apartment complex are "reasonably comparable" to the plaintiff's IRC § 42² low income housing tax credit property and that it was appropriate for the City's

¹ 42 U.S.C. § 1437f.

² 26 U.S.C. § 42.

assessors to rely upon such properties in applying the comparable sales approach?

The trial court ignored the governing Wisconsin Property Assessment Manual ("WPAM") and undisputed evidence regarding material differences between HUD § 8 and IRC § 42, and between market rate and § 42 properties, and accepted the assessors' sales as reasonably comparable to the subject property.

2. Did the trial court err in excusing the assessors' violation of law in utilizing estimated rather than actual expenses in applying their income valuation methodology?

The trial court acknowledged that the assessors erred in using a market expense ratio rather than plaintiff's actual expenses for purposes of their income approach. The court concluded the error was immaterial because the 2013 assessment was based on the comparable sales approach, even though the 2012 assessment was based solely on the income approach, and even though the comparable sales approach was not a valid methodology for 2013.

3. Did the trial court err in upholding the market derived base capitalization rate the assessors used for their income approach even though that rate was derived from sales of market rate apartment buildings rather than from sales of restricted properties similar to plaintiff's § 42 property?

The trial court upheld the assessors' capitalization rate based solely upon Mineral Point Valley Ltd. P'ship v. City of Mineral Point Bd. of Review, 2004 WI App 158, 275 Wis. 2d 784, 686 N.W.2d 697. That case involved subsidized interest rates under HUD § 515 for which the capitalization rate was determined using the band of investment method, not the market derived method used by the assessors.

4. Did the trial court err in concluding that plaintiff's expert failed to comply with Wisconsin law by basing his valuations solely on the income approach?

The trial court ignored controlling legal authority and discredited the testimony and opinions of plaintiff's expert, Scott McLaughlin, because he concluded the income approach was the only approach that reliably could be applied in valuing the subject property.

5. Did the trial court err in concluding that plaintiff's expert's application of the income valuation approach failed to comply with Wisconsin law?

Based on its misreading of Mineral Point Valley, the trial court held that McLaughlin's application of the income approach failed to comply with Wisconsin law because he utilized a capitalization rate derived from sales of other IRC § 42 properties rather than a rate derived from sales of market rate apartment buildings. The court also held McLaughlin failed to follow the WPAM steps for valuing properties like plaintiff's, without

specifying in what respects his appraisals allegedly deviated from those steps.

6. Did the trial court err in concluding that plaintiff's evidence failed to overcome the presumption of correctness of the assessments?

Notwithstanding that plaintiff established the 2012 and 2013 assessments violated the WPAM and other controlling legal authorities, and notwithstanding that plaintiff presented competent expert testimony and other significant contrary evidence demonstrating that the 2012 and 2013 assessments are excessive, the trial court held that plaintiff's evidence did not overcome the presumption of correctness of the 2012 and 2013 assessments.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Plaintiff requests oral argument and publication of the Court's decision. This appeal raises issues with substantial and continuing public interest regarding the assessment of subsidized housing, and the Court's decision will have significant value as precedent. Wis. Stat. §§ 809.22, 809.23.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. <u>Procedural History</u>

The City assessed the subject property at \$4,425,000 as of January 1, 2012. Plaintiff did not receive a 2012 assessment notice until after the board of review had adjourned, but it filed a timely claim for excessive

assessment.³ The City denied the claim. Plaintiff then filed a *de novo* refund action pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 74.37(3)(d), Case No. 13-CV-1546 ("the 2012 action"). (R.2.⁴)

The City assessed the subject property at \$4,169,000 as of January 1, 2013. Plaintiff filed an objection with the board of review; the board upheld the assessment following a hearing. Plaintiff filed a timely claim for excessive assessment, which the City denied. Plaintiff then filed a \$74.37(3)(d) refund action, Case No. 13-CV-1848 ("the 2013 action"). (Case No. 13-CV-1848, R.2.)

The trial court consolidated the 2012 and 2013 actions for trial. (R.17.) The court heard evidence on four days, commencing May 20, 2014 and concluding July 11, 2014. Plaintiff presented the testimony of its representative, Michael Lerner, who has over 40 years' experience developing, buying, selling, and managing both IRC § 42 and HUD § 8 properties and who explained at length the differences between these two federal programs. (Lerner, R.37, pp. 128-31, 161-63, 166-208.⁵) Plaintiff

³ The City moved for summary judgment to dismiss the 2012 action, claiming plaintiff failed to exhaust board of review objection procedures. The trial court denied the motion and ruled that plaintiff was not obligated to exhaust board of review procedures based on the unrefuted evidence that plaintiff did not receive a 2012 assessment notice. (R.15.) The City has not cross-appealed to challenge that order.

⁴ Except as otherwise noted, record cites in this brief refer to the record on appeal in Case No. 13-CV-1546.

⁵ Excerpts from the trial transcript are cited with the name of the witness, the record item for the volume of the transcript, and the pages of the transcript. Trial exhibits are referenced as "Ex. ."

also presented the testimony of its independent expert, Scott McLaughlin, who has specialized in appraising § 42 and § 8 properties for over 25 years. (Ex. 40; McLaughlin, R.38, pp. 73-76.) The City presented testimony from the assessors and its outside appraisers, Peter Weissenfluh and Dan Furdek, none of whom has any experience with § 42 and § 8 properties. (Anderson, R.37, p. 5; Scites, R.39, p. 11; Weissenfluh, R.40A, 6 pp. 31-37.)

Plaintiff filed post-trial briefs and proposed Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law that detail the trial evidence and applicable law and point out numerous deficiencies with the assessors' methodology and the competency and appraisals of the City's outside appraisers. (R.27, R.27A, R.30.) The City filed post-trial briefs but did not submit proposed findings and conclusions. (R.28, R.29.)

The trial court issued its written Decision on November 4, 2014. (R.31; A-App. 1.) The Decision only briefly and generally references the trial testimony. The court ruled that plaintiff failed to overcome the presumption of correctness of the 2012 and 2013 assessments, and that the assessments were not excessive, based on the following legal conclusions:

1. The properties upon which the assessors relied were sufficiently similar to the subject property to allow for a valid comparison under the comparable sales approach. (<u>Id.</u> at 8.)

⁶ This Court granted plaintiff's motion to supplement the record to add the July 11, 2014 trial transcript. (Feb. 3, 2015 Order.) Plaintiff assumes that transcript will be designated as record item 40A.

- 2. The assessors' erroneous use of a market expense ratio rather than plaintiff's actual expenses for their direct capitalization of income approach was immaterial because the 2013 assessment was based on the comparable sales approach. (Id. at 8-9.)
- 3. The assessors' reliance for their income approach on a capitalization rate derived from sales of market rate apartments rather than sales of § 42 tax credit properties was proper under Mineral Point Valley. (Decision, R.31, p. 9.) Conversely, plaintiff's expert, McLaughlin, failed to follow Wisconsin law when he (according to the court) applied a "subsidized interest rate" rather than "the market mortgage interest rate" for his income valuation. (Id. at 11.)
- 4. McLaughlin failed to follow Wisconsin law because he relied solely on the income approach in valuing the subject property. (<u>Id</u>. at 10-11.)
- 5. McLaughlin's income valuation failed to follow the step-by-step method for assessing federally subsidized housing set forth in the WPAM. (Id. at 10-11.)

Curiously, the Decision directed plaintiff to submit findings of fact, conclusions of law and a judgment. (Id. at 11.) Before plaintiff had an opportunity to do so, the City submitted a proposed order for judgment and judgment that incorporated findings and conclusions set forth in the Decision in lieu of preparing specific factual findings and legal

conclusions. The court entered judgment on November 20, 2014 in the form requested by the City. (R.32; R.33; A-App. 13.) Regency West timely appealed on December 19, 2014. (R.36.)

B. Statement of Facts

1. <u>IRC § 42 versus HUD § 8</u>

The WPAM recognizes the unique challenges involved in valuing various types of low income housing developments subject to different federal assistance programs. The WPAM describes 10 such federal programs involving mortgage insurance, mortgage interest reduction, income tax credits, or rent subsidies. (WPAM, Ex. 34, pp. 9-38 to 9-42.) The WPAM uses the short-hand term "federally subsidized housing" to describe all of these programs, although income tax credits under IRC § 42 do not involve a subsidy of any type. For purposes of this case, the parties also have used the term "subsidized housing" to describe both § 42 tax credits and true subsidy programs such as HUD § 8.

a. IRC ¶ 42 Tax Credit Program

IRC § 42 is a U.S. Treasury program that incentivizes developers to develop affordable housing by providing federal tax credits that can be sold to raise equity to pay down construction debt, thereby enabling the project to rent units about \$150-\$250/month below a comparable unit without tax credits. In Wisconsin, the § 42 tax credit program is administered by the

Wisconsin Housing and Economic Development Association ("WHEDA"). (WPAM, Ex. 34, p. 9-40; Lerner, R.37, pp. 163, 166-67.)

There are significant investment risks with § 42 properties. Section 42 credits are claimed as dollar-for-dollar credits against investors' income taxes over a period of 10 years and are not renewable. In exchange for receiving the tax credits, the developer gives up the right to sell the project for a use other than affordable housing for the period of the Land Use Restriction Agreement ("LURA") – a contract with WHEDA – which extends beyond the duration of the tax credits, usually 30 years. During the term of the LURA, the developer is obligated to continue to rent to low income tenants according to the set-asides in the LURA. If a project falls out of compliance after the tax credits expire, the investors who purchased the tax credits are obligated to repay the credits, with significant penalties and interest. (WPAM, Ex. 34, p. 9-40; Lerner, R.37, pp. 168, 170-71, 173, 183-84.)

WHEDA determines the maximum rents that may be charged to § 42 tenants at different county median income ("CMI") levels. (Ex. 24.) There are no rent subsidies and no protections against vacancy losses. The owner therefore bears all the risk of tenants not paying their rents and bears all the risk of vacancy losses. Section 42 tenants not only have to meet the LURA income restrictions, but also must earn sufficient income to pay the rent,

which narrows the market of eligible tenants to 11.8% – 14.3% of the total rental market. (Ex. 27; Lerner, R.37, pp. 174-76, 191, 196.)

Section 42 tax credit properties are subject to ongoing rules and regulations that impose significant operational compliance costs. Every tenant must be qualified through verification procedures similar to those involved in obtaining a bank loan, requiring additional management time. Reports must be filed with WHEDA, § 42 developers are obligated to obtain and file annual financial audits, and WHEDA conducts regular onsite inspections at the developer's expense. (Lerner, R.37, pp. 161, 187.) Section § 42 developers are not entitled to any automatic rent increases and cannot just raise rents to meet growing expenses due to the rent restrictions imposed by WHEDA based on the set-asides in the LURA. (Id. at 188.)

The specific characteristics of § 42 properties vary widely. In addition to the typical variations in physical features, size and location of apartment complexes, § 42 properties vary in unit mixes (i.e. number of bedrooms per unit) and set-asides. One § 42 development may have all 1-bedroom and 2-bedroom apartments with 60% set-asides (i.e. eligible tenants may earn up to 60% of CMI), while another could have 2-bedroom and 3-bedroom apartments with a combination of 50% and 60% set-asides. WHEDA rent restrictions are based on both the number of bedrooms and percentage of CMI, so those variances have a direct impact on revenues. (Ex. 24; Lerner, R.37, pp. 174-77, 179.) Moreover, CMI levels vary by

county, as do utility allowances, which are deducted from the maximum rents the developer may charge. So identical § 42 project configurations may generate very different rent revenues depending on the counties in which they are located. (Lerner, R.40A, pp. 177, 179-82.)

Some § 42 properties serve senior citizens, some serve families, and some serve both. The type of tenant affects operational expenses, because there are higher turnover rates and higher maintenance expenses with family units. (Lerner, R.37, p. 161.)

As a result of both the operational and investment risks described above, there is a very limited market for § 42 properties. (Ex. 36, p. 356; Lerner, R.37, pp. 170-71, 185-86; McLaughlin, R.38, pp. 82, 105; R.40A, pp. 212, 264-65.) To the extent these properties do change hands, buyers rely exclusively upon the income approach in making investment decisions and do not give consideration to the comparable sales approach. (Lerner, R.37, pp. 128-29, 208-11.)

b. HUD § 8 Rent Subsidy Program

HUD § 8 is a completely different program with completely different benefits and restrictions than IRC § 42.

HUD § 8 is a true subsidy program. Rents are established through a housing assistance payments ("HAP") contract with HUD or WHEDA. Tenants may earn anywhere from 0 to 80% of CMI, which means 50% of the total tenant market is eligible for § 8 housing – about four times the

market of eligible § 42 tenants. (Ex. 27; Lerner, R.37, pp. 201-08.) Section 8 tenants pay 30% of their income for rent. Whatever amount the tenants cannot afford to pay is paid by the government. The government subsidy portion of the rent is automatically deposited in the owner's bank account, eliminating collection risks. (Lerner, R.37, pp. 192-93.)

Owners of § 8 projects get the benefit of automatic rent increases which often result in payment of above-market rents. Section 8 projects also benefit from vacancy protection. If a § 8 unit goes vacant and is still vacant after 15 days, the government pays up to 80% of the HAP contract rent for 60 days, then 100% of the debt service attributable to that unit for up to a year. Moreover, § 8 HAP contracts are renewable. (Id. at 194-95.)

Due to the guaranteed rents, renewability, and low risk associated with § 8 properties, such properties are highly desirable, and there is a constant market for them. (<u>Id</u>. at 192-196, 200-01; McLaughlin, R.38, pp. 79-81, 143.)

2. <u>Description of the Subject Property</u>

The subject property is a 100% § 42 property consisting of nine 8-family apartment buildings, each with four 3-bedroom and four 2-bedroom units. There is also a community center with a manager's office and community room, and 3 stand-alone garage structures with 12 garages in each. The property has no elevators and no underground parking. The

project is situated on 7 acres of land located just west of the vacant Sam's Club and south of the City dump. (<u>Id</u>. at 164-65, 253-56.)

All 72 apartment units in the subject property are income and rent restricted. Under plaintiff's 30-year LURA, 51 of the 72 units must be rented to tenants who earn 50% or less of CMI, and 21 of the units must be rented to tenants who earn 60% or less of CMI, except that two units are provided rent-free to plaintiff's employees. (Id. at 127, 170; Lerner, R.38, pp. 3-4.) Four of the 36 garage units also are unavailable for rent. (Lerner, R.38, p. 4.) The subject property was constructed in 2010-11 and was fully leased as of February 1, 2012. (Lerner, R.37, p. 165.)

3. The 2012 Assessment

The subject property was assessed in 2012 and 2013 by Janet Scites, and the assessments were reviewed and approved by the City's assessor, Ray Anderson. Neither Scites nor Anderson has any experience buying, selling, or managing subsidized housing projects. (Anderson, R.37, p. 5; Scites, R.39, p. 11.)

For the 2012 assessment, the assessors relied exclusively upon the direct capitalization of income approach in arriving at their value of \$4,425,000. (Ex. 11; Anderson, R.37, p. 16.) That method converts a single year's net operating income ("NOI") into an estimate of value by dividing the property's NOI (income less expenses) by the applicable capitalization rate. (WPAM, Ex. 33, pp. 9-13, 9-21.) The capitalization

rate, or "cap rate," is the ratio between the NOI of other properties and their sale prices and provides an estimate of investors' expected rate of return on their investments. (<u>Id.</u>, Anderson, R.37, p. 33.)

As of January 1, 2012, the valuation date for the 2012 assessment, plaintiff had only been operating for a couple of months and did not yet have audited financial statements available. However, as of that time plaintiff's actual rents were known, and its expenses had been projected consistently, and independently, by four different sources, including WHEDA, which approved plaintiff's project for federal tax credits after an extensive financial analysis. (Ex. 42; Lerner, R.37, pp. 212-31, 241-42; R.38, pp. 10, 49.)

For purposes of the 2012 assessment, the assessors assumed potential gross income of \$639,360 and a 5% vacancy rate, which were similar to the assumptions in a prospective appraisal commissioned from Cambridge Partners in 2010 by plaintiff's construction lender, a copy of which plaintiff provided to the assessors in 2011. (Ex. 11; Ex. 13; Anderson, R.37, pp. 23, 28-30; Lerner, id. at 235.) However, the assessors rejected the expense projections in the Cambridge Partners appraisal as supposedly too high in comparison to other § 42 properties in the area (Anderson, R.37, pp. 28-30; Scites, R.39, pp. 5, 44) – even though those projections were well within WHEDA's parameters. (Ex. 25; Lerner, R.37, pp. 215-21.) Instead of applying the specific expenses applicable to the

subject property, the assessors applied a 40% estimated expense ratio supposedly based on expense ratios for other § 42 properties.⁷ (R.11; Anderson, R.37, pp. 25, 27-28, 30; Scites, R.39, p. 5.) As a result, the assessors assumed expenses of only \$250,000 per year excluding property taxes, as compared with plaintiff's actual expense projection of \$328,500 excluding taxes. (R.11; Anderson, R.37, pp. 29-30.) The assessors thereby computed an NOI of \$376,099, which was 37% higher than Cambridge Partners' projected NOI of \$274,000. (Ex. 11; Anderson, R.37, pp. 32-33.)

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