# **RECEIVED**

# STATE OF WISCONSIN **02-12-2016**SUPREME COURT

# CLERK OF SUPREME COURT OF WISCONSIN

#### REGENCY WEST APARTMENTS LLC,

Plaintiff-Appellant-Petitioner,

v. Case No. 2014AP002947

#### CITY OF RACINE,

Defendant-Respondent.

On Review of a Decision of the Court of Appeals, District II Appeal from Circuit Court of Racine County The Honorable Gerald P. Ptacek, Presiding Trial Court Nos. 2013-CV-1546 and 2013-CV-1848

#### BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Robert E. Hankel WI State Bar ID No. 01015341 Robert E. Hankel, S.C. 6525 Washington Avenue Mt. Pleasant, Wisconsin 53406

Phone: (262)939-4896

e-mail: rehankel@yahoo.com

Co-counsel for Defendant-Respondent

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

#### ARGUMENT

- I. Regency West Failed to Overcome the Presumption of Correctness

  Attaching to the City of Racine's Assessment.
  - A. The Valuation of the City of Racine's Assessor is Presumed Correct.
    - 1. The City of Racine's Assessment Methodology Properly

      Followed the *Markarian* Three Tier Assessment

      Methodology.

Courts are required to give presumptive weight to the City of Racine's assessment.

The value of all real and personal property entered into the assessment roll to which such affidavit is attached by the assessor shall, in all actions and proceedings involving such values, be presumptive evidence that all such properties have been justly and equitably assessed in proper relationship to each other.

Wis. Stats. §70.49(2).

The Court of Appeals in the case of *Allright Properties, Inc. v. City of Milwaukee*, explained how this presumption is to be applied in an action for excessive assessment under Wis. Stats. §74.37, holding as follows:

A party that is dissatisfied with an assessment may bring an excessive tax assessment claim under Wis. Stats. §74.37(3)(d). "This is not a certiorari review." *Bloomer Hous. Ltd. P'ship v. City of Bloomer*, 2002 WI App. 252, ¶11, 257 Wis. 2d 883, 653 N.W. 2d 309. Acting pursuant to §74.37(3)(d), the trial court makes determinations concerning excessive tax assessment claims "without giving deference to any determination made at a previous proceeding," including a

proceeding before the board of review. Nankin v. Village of Shorewood, 2001 WI 92, ¶25, 245 Wis. 2d 86, 630 N.W. 2d 141. "The court must only give presumptive weight to the assessor's assessment." Id. (citing Wis. Stat. §70.49(2)). The assessor's assessment "is presumed correct only if the challenging party does not present significant contrary evidence" and "[n]o presumption of correctness may be accorded to an assessment that does not apply the principles in the Property Assessment Manual." Walgreen, 311 Wis. 2d 158, ¶17, 752 N.W. 2d 687 (citations omitted; bracketing supplied by Walgreen). Stated differently, when a city assessor correctly applies the Property Assessment Manual and Wisconsin statutes, and there is no significant evidence to the contrary, courts will reject a party's challenge to the assessment.

Allright Properties, Inc. v. City of Milwaukee, 2009 WI App. 46, ¶12, 317 Wis. 2d 228, 239-40, 767 N.W. 2d 567.

To overcome the presumption the owner must present "significant contrary evidence" or a challenge will be rejected. *Adams Outdoor Advertising Ltd. v. City of Madison*, 2006 WI 104, ¶25, 294 Wis. 2d 441, 717 N.W. 2d 803. The owner's evidence "must compel the conclusion that the assessor's valuation was incorrect." *Xerox Corp. v. Wisconsin Dept. of Revenue*, 114 Wis. 2d 522, 528, 339 N.W. 2d 357 (Ct. App. 1983).

Recently, in a case attacking an assessor's classification, the Wisconsin Supreme Court re-emphasized that the presumption applies to the <u>underlying</u> <u>assessment</u>. The Supreme Court, referencing Wis. Stat. §70.49(2) stated:

Nevertheless, "the underlying assessment still carries a presumption of correctness."

Sausen v. Town of Black Creek Board of Review, 2014 WI 9, ¶30, 352 Wis. 2d 576, 843 N.W. 2d 39.

In addition to overcoming the presumption of correctness, Regency West also has the burden of proof on each and every issue associated with the assessment. The *Sausen* Court stated, "[T]he taxpayer recognizes, as we do that the concept of presumption of correctness and burden of proof are intertwined." *Sausen*, at ¶20. "The concept of a 'presumption' is very familiar in the law, and it is closely related to the concept of a 'burden." *Id*.

[T]he assessment needs no support by evidence in the first instance, but must stand, unless shown to be incorrect by reasonably direct and unambiguous evidence.

Sausen v. Town of Black Creek Board of Review, 2014 WI 9, ¶34, 352 Wis. 2d 576, 843 N.W. 2d 39, citing State ex rel. Giroux v. Lien, 108 Wis. 316, 317-8, 84 N.W. 422 (1900).

The court has stated that a landowner must overcome "the prima facie presumption in favor of the original assessment."

Sausen, at ¶36; citing, State ex rel. Vilas v. Wharton, 117 Wis. 558, 562, 94 N.W. 359 (1903). (emphasis in original)

Based upon the language in *Sausen*, not only is the City of Racine's assessment afforded the presumption of correctness, but in addition, Regency West has the burden to show if the assessment is not consistent with the law. The Wisconsin Supreme Court addressed how the burden of proof is to be applied

when determining whether a taxpayer has overcome the presumption of correctness afforded an assessment. The taxpayer who objects to an assessment bears the burden of proof to show that the assessment, on any issue, does not follow the law. Sausen, ¶¶ 36-38.

Thus, Regency West must not only overcome the presumption of correctness, but also must satisfy the burden of proof on all elements of its claim. The burden of proof does *not* shift to the government. "Conditions set forth in the *Property Assessment Manual* cannot be construed to change long-standing law and create a legal presumption that shifts the burden of proof from a taxpayer to a city." *Doneff v. City of Two Rivers Board of Review*, 184 Wis. 2d 203, 216, 217, 516 N.W. 2d 383 (1994). Instead, the overall burden of proof remains with Regency West. Relying on the testimony of Scott McLaughlin and his four page report, in the face of the evidence of four highly qualified assessors, Regency West failed to carry that burden.

# The City of Racine Expert Witnesses Correctly Made the Third Tier Income Valuation.

Metropolitan Holding Company v. Board of Review of the City of Milwaukee, 183 Wis. 2d 626, 634, 495 N.W. 2d 314 (1993), held that in an assessment of subsidized property employing the income approach, it is necessary to use actual income and expenses as opposed to market income. Since Regency West was a new construction as of January 1, 2012, actual income and expenses were not available. The Assessor's Office therefore relied upon the experience of

the City of Racine with other Section 42 properties in the City for the expense calculation. Although actual income and expense information was available at the time of trial, Regency West's witness Scott McLaughlin did not use actual information in performing his analysis for 2012, nor did he use information that he had for 2013. (Compare R. 43, Ex. 40, his report, with his document, Ex. 100). He explained that he was not going to use "after-the-fact" information, which he found to be irrelevant to the valuation (R. 38, pp. 182-183). That opinion makes no sense in a *de novo* proceeding, although it may have and probably would have validity in most *certiorari* appeals. In *Rosen v. City of Milwaukee*, 72 Wis. 2d 653, 666, 242 N.W. 2d 681 (1976), the Court accepted an assessor's valuation based upon sales that occurred after the valuation date.

The *Metropolitan Holding* holding was limited by *Bloomer Housing Ltd.*Partnership v. City of Bloomer, 2002 WI App 252, ¶ 20 and Mineral Point Valley

Limited Partnership v. Mineral Point Board of Review, 2004 WI App 158, 275

Wis. 2d 784, 686 N.W. 2d 697, which found that market information was required in developing a capitalization rate on the expense side of the income approach equation. These cases are cited for this proposition in the WPAM at pp. 9-38 – 9-39 (R. 42, Ex. 34). Regency West's witness Scott McLaughlin did not use market rates in determining the appropriate cap rate for his income valuation. The cap rate that the City of Racine used came from market rate information available to the City Assessor's Office (R. 38, p. 239). (Although the lower courts stated this is true only for bond of investment valuation, Mr. Furdek and Mr. Weissenfluh in

fact did perform a discounted cash flow valuation in Exhibit 119 (R. 43, pp. 59-61).

Janet Scites in her income approach stabilized expenses to bring the estimated and calculated expenses for Regency West into line with information available to the Assessor's Office and its experience with other Section 42 properties in the City of Racine (R. 38, pp. 236-237; R. 39, pp. 5-6). She did the same with respect to the vacancy rate, using a rate in fact consistent with Regency West's actual reported rate of three vacancies out of seventy-two (72) units (R. 38, pp. 235-236). Her cap rate was based upon the market rate as mandated by *Bloomer* and *Mineral Point*, based on information available to the Assessor's Office (R. 38, p. 237). Wisconsin law supports the stabilization of income and expenses when using the income approach. Regency West's expert Scott McLaughlin conceded this to be an appropriate principle (R. 38, p. 182). *ABKA Limited Partnership v. Board of Review of the Village of Fontana-on-Geneva Lake*, 224 Wis. 2d 551, 591 N.W. 2d 879 (1999).

Daniel Furdek and Peter Weissenfluh in their report and testimony also performed an income valuation of Regency West property as a cross check on their comparable sales analysis. They stabilized income and expenses (R. 45, pp. 11 and 135-6). According to direct capitalization analysis, they concluded that the property had a value based on an income approach of Three Million Eight Hundred Thirty Thousand Dollars (\$3,830,000.00) for 2012 and Three Million Eight Hundred Ten Thousand Dollars (\$3,810,000.00) for 2013 (Ex. 119, p. 58).

Using discounted cash flow analysis, the income approach valuation was Three Million Nine Hundred Eighty One Thousand Dollars (\$3,981,000.00) for 2012 and Three Million Nine Hundred Seventy Eight Thousand Dollars (\$3,978,000.00) for 2013. The income valuations performed by the City of Racine and those performed by Real Estate Appraisals support the valuations of the Regency West property using sales comparison and demonstrate that the assessments of the City of Racine were not "excessive."

# B. The Lower Courts Correctly Approved the City of Racine's Assessment Methodology.

State ex rel. Markarian v. City of Cudahy, 45 Wis. 2d 683, 173 N.W. 2d 627 (1970), held that a three tier assessment methodology was to be used to determine the value of real property in the State of Wisconsin. That hierarchy was later codified in the assessment statute. Wis. Stats. § 70.32. The first tier in the hierarchy is an arm's-length sale of the subject property, which is the best evidence of value. There was no such sale for Regency West. One then proceeds to the second tier, consideration of sales of reasonably comparable properties. Only if there are no reasonably comparable sales, does one proceed to the third tier of the assessment methodology, which includes consideration of income, cost, or other evidence of value. If there are sales of comparable properties, the third tier valuation approaches serve as a check on the assessment to avoid an odd result. The Court found that the comparable sales approach was appropriate and should be applied given the opinions and conclusions of four experienced assessors who

had testified at trial (App. 8; R. 31, p. 8). See also *Adams Outdoor Adv. Ltd. v. City of Madison*, 2006 WI 104, ¶¶ 34 and 35, 394 Wis. 2d 441, 717 N.W. 2d 803, discussing the three tier methodology.

The WPAM treats all federally subsidized housing, including Section 8, Section 42 and eight other sections of federally subsidized housing listed at p. 9-38 of the WPAM, in the same section of the WPAM (R. 42, pp. 9-38-9-46). There is no case law or anything in the WPAM to invalidate use of the three tier hierarchy in assessing Section 42 or Section 8 properties. The WPAM emphasizes that all three approaches to value should be used and specifically references Wis. Stats. § 70.32, which incorporates the *Markarian* hierarchy (R. 42, Ex. 34, p. 9-44).

Because the 2012 assessment was not challenged at the Board of Review, the City of Racine Assessors Office based the valuation of Regency West only on mass appraisal techniques utilizing the income approach to value (R. 42, Ex. 11). For commercial properties assessors may use mass appraisal. Peter Weissenfluh, the City Assessor for Milwaukee for more than twenty-five (25) years, confirmed that in communities involving large numbers of properties mass appraisal techniques are used, which necessarily relies heavily on the income approach (R.45, p. 129). If there is a challenge, the assessor for the community involved will then proceed to other techniques of valuation, including a sales comparison approach (R. 45, pp. 115-116 – Furdek).

In 2013, a challenge was made before the Board of Review and Janet Scites prepared a sales comparison analysis and also looked at a cost approach in

addition to the income approach to valuation (R. 42, Ex. 12). Ms. Scites made adjustments to the comparables as required in the sales comparison approach as shown on page 13 of Exhibit 12 (R. 42; R. 37, pp. 135, 140, and 143-4; R. 43, Ex. 61; also defended at R.45, pp. 272-276; R. 39, p. 8). Although she performed a cost analysis, she did not rely upon it (R. 39, p. 4). For the income approach, she stabilized income and expenses based on her knowledge of the Racine Market (R. 45, pp. 275-276). City Assessor Raymond Anderson reviewed the valuations for both 2012 and 2013, affirming the value in his Assessor's Affidavits (R. 43, Exs. 114 and 115). He confirmed that in his opinion the assessments were not "excessive" (R. 40, pp. 6-7).

This is a *de novo* refund action, not a *certiorari* review. Consequently, the Trial Court was not restricted to the record at Board of Review (In fact there was no Board of Review record for 2012). *Metropolitan Associates v. City of Milwaukee*, 2011 WI 20, ¶ 45, 332 Wis. 2d 85, 796 N.W. 2d 17. Therefore, additional and subsequent evidence to Board of Review evidence presented at trial is material in determining whether the City of Racine's assessments for Regency West for 2012 and 2013 were "excessive."

The City of Racine presented the testimony and evidence of the City of Racine Assessor Raymond Anderson and the assessor actually performing the ground work for the valuation for Regency West, Janet Scites, which was buttressed by the testimony of two eminently qualified assessors, Daniel Furdek and Peter Weissenfluh. Both Mr. Furdek and Mr. Weissenfluh confirmed the

validity of the methodology used by the City of Racine Assessors Office and also the reasonableness of the market valuation placed upon the Regency West property (see credentials for Daniel Furdek, R. 43, Ex. 117, and for Peter Weissenfluh R. 43, Ex. 135 and R. 45, pp. 121-124). In their report marked as Exhibit 119, Mr. Furdek and Mr. Weissenfluh in great detail arrived at an appraised value for Regency West as of both January 1, 2012 and January 1, 2013, which in each instance was somewhat higher than the City's assessment for both years. They primarily relied upon a comparable sales approach with three comparable properties of subsidized housing. As required when performing a comparable sales analysis, they made adjustments in their grid appearing at pages 41 and 42 of their report.

Mr. Weissenfluh and Mr. Furdek, as well as the City Assessors, rendered the opinion that properties Section 42 units and Section 8 units were sufficiently similar for comparable sales valuation purposes. This opinion was based upon the market reality that rents for the properties were essentially the same (R. 45, pp. 164-5; R. 45, pp. 114-5 and 280; see also R. 40 on overall market sale prices). Janet Scites confirmed that for the Racine market (R. 39, pp. 4-5). Mr. Lerner conceded that the Regency West rents for Section 42 and Section 8 units on the property were the same (R. 38, pp. 7-8).

With respect to Regency West's claims of greater risk for the Section 42 properties compared to Section 8 properties, Mr. Furdek presented irrefuted testimony that his Bradley comparable had a three year waiting list so that vacancy

is not a large risk factor (R. 40, p. 98). Mr. Scites testified that section 42 properties generally have a waiting list (R. 38, p. 236). Mr. Lerner, the representative of Regency West, had to concede that only two (2) or three (3) of the seventy-two (72) units in Regency West were vacant as of February 2012, a vacancy rate of approximately Four Percent (4%) (R. 3, p. 5). He admitted the lease up risk was gone by 2013 (R. 38, p. 7).

As a *de novo* appeal, evidence of comparable sales is material to a determination of whether the assessment in 2012 or well as the assessment in 2013 was "excessive." The Trial Court in a *de novo* review can consider evidence developed after the assessment valuation date. What the market does is the best measure of a property's value.

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